IN THE COURT OF CHANCERY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

IN RE ALLOY, INC. SHAREHOLDER )
LITIGATION ) C.A.No. 5626-VCP

)

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Submitted: June 6, 2011
Decided: October 13, 2011

Pamela S. Tikellis, Esq., Robert J. Kriner, Jrg.E#. Zachary Naylor, Esq., Tiffany J.
Cramer, Esq., CHIMICLES & TIKELLIS, LLP, WilmingtgnDelaware; U. Seth
Ottensoser, Esq., Jeffrey Lerner, Esq., BERNSTEIEBHARD LLP, New York, New

York; Co-Lead Counsel for Plaintiffs.

Lisa A. Schmidt, Esq., David Schmerfeld, Esq., RKRDS, LAYTON & FINGER,
P.A., Wilmington, Delaware; Chet A. Kronenberg, ES§IMPSON THACHER &
BARTLETT LLP, Los Angeles, Californigttorneys for Defendants ZelnickMedia LLC,
Alloy Media Holdings, L.L.C., Lexington Merger Suixr., Natixis Caspian Private
Equity, LLC, Rosemont Solebury Co-Investment FunB, and GenSpring Family
Offices, LLC.

S. Mark Hurd, Esqg., Shannon E. German, Esq., MORRIEHOLS, ARSHT &
TUNNELL LLP, Wilmington, Delaware; Alan R. Friedmaksq., KRAMER, LEVIN,
NAFTALIS & FRANKEL LLP, New York, New York;Attorneys for Defendants Alloy,
Inc., Matthew A. Drapkin, Anthony N. Fiore, Sam@elGradess, Peter M. Graham,
Jeffrey Jacobowitz, Edward A. Monnier and RichardPErlman.

Richard D. Heins, Esq., ASHBY & GEDDES, WilmingtoDelaware;Attorneys for
Defendants Matthew C. Diamond and James K. Johrilson,

PARSONS, Vice Chancellor.



This case is a class action brought on behalf ®fféhmer shareholders of Alloy,
Inc. (“Alloy” or the “Company”) challenging a goingrivate transaction (the “Merger”)
that cashed out the Company’'s public shareholders dllegedly inadequate
consideration. Although the shareholders votedpprove the Merger, two of Alloy’s
nine directors retained their senior managementtipos at and received an equity
interest in the now privately-held Company. Thenrfer shareholders claim that those
two directors thus unfairly extracted for themsehan opportunity to share in Alloy’s
continued growth without offering the same oppoiturio the public shareholders.
Specifically, they allege that those two directorsached their fiduciary duty of loyalty,
that the other seven directors of Alloy were dortedaand controlled by the two self-
interested directors, and that all nine of the Wlidirectors breached their duty of
disclosure by omitting material facts in the pretiary proxy statement the Company
filed with the SEC in connection with the shareleoldvote on the Merger (the
“Preliminary Proxy”). In addition, the former sledwolders assert a claim for aiding and
abetting the Alloy directors’ breaches of fiduciaiyty against the investor group that
now controls Alloy.

This matter is before me on three motions by threua defendants to dismiss the
Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint (therfplaint”) in its entirety pursuant
to Court of Chancery Rule 12(b)(6) for failure tate a claim on which relief may be
granted. Among the considerations relevant tadgfendants’ motions are the facts that,

at this point, the only relief the plaintiffs seiskmoney damages and Alloy’s certificate



of incorporation includes an exculpatory provision accordance with 8el. C.
8§ 102(b)(7).

Regarding the alleged breaches of fiduciary dutyth®y directors in negotiating
and approving the Merger, | find that the Compldaits to state a claim for damages
because it does not allege sufficient facts fronctvione reasonably could infer that a
director defendant breached his fiduciary duty afalty or did not act in good faith.
Similarly, | find that the Complaint fails to allegsufficient facts to support an inference
that the alleged disclosure violations were thedpob of anything other than good faith
omissions by the directors who authorized themcaBse of the exculpatory provision of
Alloy’s certificate of incorporation, the Complaititus fails to state a claim for damages
against the Alloy directors for breach of their Yduif disclosure. Finally, having
determined that the Complaint does not state aayncfor breach of fiduciary duty
against the directors of Alloy, | also dismiss tt&ms for aiding and abetting against the
defendants who were not affiliated with Alloy.

Therefore, for the reasons stated in this Opinigmant the defendants’ motions to
dismiss in all respects.

l. BACKGROUND
A. The Parties

There are two lead plaintiffs in this class actitme City of Livonia Employees
Retirement System and Joshua Teitelbaum (colldgtitlaintiffs”). Plaintiffs filed this

action on behalf of themselves and all other sinyilsituated Alloy shareholders against



sixteen defendants, including Alloy, the nine mershs& Alloy’s board of directors, and
six other business entities involved in the Merger.

Defendant Alloy is a media and marketing compangt benown for creating
entertainment properties such@sssip Gir] The Sisterhood of the Traveling Panibe
Vampire Diaries and Pretty Little Liars Alloy is a Delaware corporation with its
principal place of business in New York City. Befdhe Merger, Alloy’s common stock
was publicly traded on the NASDAQ Global Market.

Defendants Matthew C. Diamond and James K. John&orfounded Alloy in
1996 and have been members of Alloy’s board ofctlirs since that time. Since 1999,
Diamond has served as Alloy’s Chief Executive (ffiand Chairman of the Board, and
Johnson has served as its Chief Operating OffiBafore the Merger, they were Alloy’s
only employee directors.

Defendants Matthew A. Drapkin, Anthony N. Fiorengel A. Gradess, Peter M.
Graham, Jeffrey Jacobowitz, Edward A. Monnier, @&idhard E. Perlman were all
members of Alloy’s board of directors and involvednegotiating and approving the
Merger.

Alloy, Diamond, Johnson, Drapkin, Fiore, Gradesstaltam, Jacobowitz,
Monnier, and Perlman collectively are referred ¢odin as the “Alloy Defendants.”

Defendant ZelnickMedia LLC (“ZelnickMedia”) is a Revare limited liability
company with its principal place of business in Néark City. ZelnickMedia wholly

owns two Delaware business entities, also locatedaw York City, that were formed



for the purpose of effecting the Merger: Defendaattoy Media Holdings, L.L.C.
(“Holdings”) and Lexington Merger Sub Inc.

Defendant Natixis Caspian Private Equity, LLC iDalaware limited liability
company with its principal place of business ini§dfrance.

Defendant Rosemont Solebury Co-Investment Fund, is.RA Delaware limited
partnership with its principal place of businesew York City.

Defendant GenSpring Family Offices, LLC is a Flaridmited liability company
with its principal place of business in Palm Be&adrdens, Florida.

ZelnickMedia, Holdings, Lexington Merger Sub In®Natixis Caspian Private
Equity, LLC, Rosemont Solebury Co-Investment Fuhd?., and GenSpring Family
Offices, LLC collectively are referred to hereintae “Non-Company Defendants.”

B. Facts'
1. Alloy’s business

Alloy is one of the country’s largest providersroédia and marketing programs,
offering advertisers the ability to reach primarijputh and young adult consumers
through digital advertising, display boards, direttail, content production, and
educational programming. For example, as of JWE)2AIlloy owned, among other
properties, (1) various websites that reach anesmegi of 51 million visitors aged 12 to

24 per month, (2) the recently launched Alloy T\Wigh delivers original, short-form

Unless otherwise noted, the facts recited bel@wdaawn from the Complaint and
presumed true for purposes of Defendants’ motions.
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video programming tailored to youth and young aduliiences, and (3) Channel One, an
in-school broadcast network reaching nearly sixionilyoung people. Also on or about
June 7, 2010, Alloy sold its FrontLine in-store ketmng division for $36 million so that
management could increase their focus on the Coygpanedia and entertainment
businesses. Two days later, in a Form 10-Q filéd the SEC, Alloy stated its intent “to
continue to expand our Media segment . . . to esxelong-term profitability and
shareholder valu€’” Approximately one week later, Alloy announced mising
financial results for the first quarter of its 20fical year, including a 15% increase in
revenue and a $1.4 million increase in adjustedTBBiompared to the prior year’s first
quarter.

2. Alloy begins to consider a merger

Perhaps because of its financial success in |828,28lloy received an indication
of interest from an undisclosed financial buyerifidBr A”) sometime in the fall of 2009.
In response to that indication, on November 16,92@0e Alloy board formed a special
committee to review, evaluate, negotiate, and apoy disapprove any proposals from
or agreements with potential acquirors of the Campéhe “Special Committee”).
Initially, the Special Committee comprised GrahaBradess, Monnier, and Perlman,
with Graham serving as chairman. Because the boawmtemplated the possibility of a
going-private transaction with management maintgnisome equity interest and

operational role in the surviving entity, the bodid not include Diamond and Johnson,

2 Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint (“@aih T 34.

5



Alloy’s only inside directors, on the Special Contte®. In addition to being directors
and principal officers of Alloy, Diamond and Johnseeld, collectively, approximately
15% of Alloy’s outstanding shares.

The board engaged Kramer, Levin, Naftalis & FrankdP as legal counsel to the
Special Committee and Macquarie Capital (USA) (felacquarie”) as financial advisor
to both the Company and the Special Committee. Accordimd\lloy’s Preliminary
Proxy, the Special Committee approved the retenbbrMacquarie because of its
reputation and capabilities, its prior experienaehviGraham, and its lack of any prior
relationship with Alloy managemenht.Macquarie then presented the full board with a
spectrum of strategic options to consider, inclgdmaintaining the status quo, returning
capital to stockholders, divesting non-core assaid, pursuing a sale of the Company.
Macquarie further identified sixteen potential s#gac and financial buyers. The Special
Committee concluded, however, that it was unlikelyind a strategic buyer and decided

to focus instead on potential management-led gpmgte transactions with financial

3 Alloy, Inc., Preliminary Proxy Statement (Scheddl4A) (“Prelim. Proxy”) 16
(July 21, 2010). The allegations in Plaintiffs’ i@plaint regarding the Special
Committee’s engagement of Macquarie explicitly refe Alloy’s Preliminary
Proxy and characterize the contents of that doctm@ompl. § 39. Elsewhere in
the Complaint, Plaintiffs directly quote from theePminary Proxy. Accordingly,
the Court takes judicial notice of that public disure. See In re Gen. Motors
(Hughes) S’holder Litig.897 A.2d 162, 169 (Del. 2006) (“When a complaint
partially quotes or characterizes what a disclosloeument says, a defendant is
entitled to show the trial court the actual languayy the complete context in
which it was used [on a motion to dismiss].9polomon v. Armstrong’47 A.2d
1098, 1122 n.72 (Del. Ch. 1999) (taking judiciatio® of facts publicly available
in SEC disclosures and documents incorporated feyenrece into the complaint
when considering a motion to dismiss).
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buyers. Upon receiving that direction, Macquarmatacted twelve potential financial
buyers.

In December 2009, Bidder A informed Macquarie ihatas no longer interested
in acquiring Alloy. ZM Capital Management, LLG potential financial buyer contacted
by Macquarie, however, did indicate interest anebrea into a nondisclosure agreement
with Alloy on December 30, 2009.

3. ZelnickMedia makes an offer

In early 2010, ZelnickMedia attended several inmicidry and due diligence
meetings with Macquarie and Alloy employees, ingigdDiamond and Johnson. One
meeting, attended by both Diamond and Johnson,r@wver dinner at the home of
ZelnickMedia’s founder, Strauss Zelnick. On Matdh 2010, ZelnickMedia made an
oral offer to acquire Alloy for $8.75 per shareheTfollowing day, ZelnickMedia made a
more detailed written offer of $9.00 per share @mstc ZelnickMedia, however,
conditioned its offer on, among other things, ratmnof Alloy’s senior management,

including Diamond and Johnson.

4 The Complaint appears to refer to ZM Capital Mpamaent, LLC and
ZelnickMedia interchangeably as if they are the es@mtity. In addition, the Non-
Company Defendants note that “Plaintiffs have citedincorrect entity names for
several of the Non-Company Defendants. For examplintiffs sued
ZelnickMedia instead of its affiliate, ZM Capit&l,P.” Non-Company Defs.’ Op.
Br. 1 n.1. The Non-Company Defendants, howeveve ot moved to dismiss
any of Plaintiffs’ claims on this basis. MoreovBiaintiffs’ possible errors in this
regard do not affect the Court’s analysis. Theesffor purposes of Defendants’
motions, the Court hereinafter refers to ZM Capitéhnagement, LLC, ZM
Capital, L.P., and ZelnickMedia, individually andllectively, as ZelnickMedia.
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Also on March 17, Alloy received a letter from agp of dissident shareholders
affiliated with Drapkin threatening to wage a proxgntest at the next annual
shareholders meeting to elect three persons t@€tmpany’'s board of directors. The
Company assuaged the dissidents by appointing Dragkd Jacobowitz to the board.
Once appointed, Drapkin and Jacobowitz, along witine, were appointed to the Special
Committee. Thus, the Special Committee ultimampsisted of all seven of Alloy’s
outside directors, two of whom were affiliated wisihareholders openly critical of
management.

Between the middle of March and late June 2010Sihecial Committee pursued
negotiations with ZelnickMedia in earnest. Durintbat process, ZelnickMedia
incrementally increased its bid several timest fics$9.45 per share and ultimately to
$9.80 per share, equal to a total acquisition po€es126.5 million. At all times,
ZelnickMedia’s offer remained all cash but conting®en (1) the retention of senior
management, including Diamond and Johnson, andhé2)agement retaining an equity
stake in the surviving entity. Plaintiffs criti@zhese negotiations with ZelnickMedia,
complaining that “no alternatives [were] fully-euated.® In response, the Alloy
Defendants emphasize that, as alleged in the Camipldacquarie contacted twelve

potential buyers, but only ZelnickMedia submittebic®

> Compl. 1 45.
6 Alloy Defs.” Op. Br. 7 (citing Prelim. Proxy 202
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4. The Special Committee recommends, and the board apgpves, the Merger

By June 23, 2010, the Special Committee and Zelwhézka had come to terms on
the proposed Merger. The relevant terms inclugépdAlloy would become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Holdings (itself wholly owned BelnickMedia) in exchange for an
all cash payment to Alloy’s public shareholders$&.80 per share; (2) Alloy would
continue to employ Diamond and Johnson as CEO &@,Cespectively; (3) Diamond
and Johnson would exchange a portion of their Alddyvares for, in the aggregate,
approximately 15% of the shares of Holdings; andd@mond and Johnson each would
be granted an initial profits interest in Holdinggpresenting 3.5% of its fully diluted
equity.

Also on June 23, Macquarie provided the Special Qitae with its opinion that
the terms of the Merger were fair from a finangalint of view to Alloy’s unaffiliated
shareholders. The Special Committee then determined unanimaistythe terms of the
Merger were fair to Alloy’s public shareholders andhe best interests of the Company.
On that basis, the Special Committee recommendat tie full board approve the
Merger. Additionally, the Special Committee recoemded that Graham receive a one-
time payment of $100,000 for serving as its chairrttasoughout the negotiations. In

turn, the full board unanimously (1) determinedttttee Merger was fair and in the

! Compl. { 67; Prelim. Proxy 24.



Company’s best interests, (2) approved the Megayst,(3) approved the special payment
to Grahan?,

Alloy announced the Merger on June 24, 2010, onekvedter it had announced
its positive first quarter results. The acquisitiorice of $9.80 per share represented a
14% premium over Alloy’s $8.59 closing price on du?3 and, according to Alloy’s
Preliminary Proxy, a 27% premium over the averdgsirg price for the last thirty days
prior to June 28. On June 28, Teitelbaum filed a class action camplin this Court
against the Alloy Defendants and ZelnickMedia, whiater was consolidated with this
action?®

5. Alloy submits the Merger for shareholder approval

On July 21, Alloy filed its Preliminary Proxy witthe SEC. The Preliminary
Proxy, among other things, detailed the backgrafritie negotiation process, Graham’s
receipt of the $100,000 payment, Diamond’s and Soh's personal interests in the
Merger terms, and Macquarie’s financial analysisl amluation of Alloy™' It also

included Macquarie’s written fairness opinion ohd23 as an exhibit. In addition, the

8 Compl. ] 48; Prelim. Proxy 30.
Prelim. Proxy 10.

19 Class Action Complaint, Teitelbaum v. Diamondakt Del. Ch. C.A. No. 5604-
VCP.

t The Complaint alleges numerous deficiencies WM#tquarie’s fairness opinion.

Compl. 1Y 69-87. To the extent relevant, | describe substance of those
allegationgnfra in the Analysis section of this Opinion.

12 Prelim. Proxy at B-1 to B-4.
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Preliminary Proxy disclosed that Macquarie advigdidy and the Special Committee
despite the existence of at least two potentiaflmbs of interest. First, according to the
Preliminary Proxy, the possibility existed that Maarie might co-invest with Holdings,
and its affiliates might co-invest in affiliates Bbldings in the futuré® Second, Alloy
agreed to pay Macquarie’s fees “in the sum of up2a@50,000, a substantial portion of
which is contingent upon completion of the mergér.”

On July 8, 2010, Plaintiff the City of Livonia Engylees Retirement System filed
its own class action complaint. On July 26, | aidsted that action with Teitelbaum’s
earlier class action, and Plaintiffs filed their rSolidated Amended Class Action
Complaint on August 9.

At a special meeting held on November 8, 2010,Alhey shareholders voted to
adopt the Merger. The Merger closed on Novemban® Alloy common stock was
delisted from the NASDAQ Global Markét.

C. Procedural History

On August 9, 2010, when Plaintiffs filed their cohdated Complaint, they also
moved for expedited proceedings. Following brigfiand oral argument, the Court

denied that motion on August 25.

13 Id. 7 68; Prelim. Proxy 38.
4 Compl. 7 68; Prelim. Proxy 39.
1> Alloy, Inc., Current Report (Form 8-K) 1 (Nov. 2010).
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Defendants later filed motions to dismiss pursuaniRule 12(b)(6) for failure to
state a claim upon which relief may be granted. pamticular, the Alloy Defendants
moved to dismiss Count One of the Complaint forabhes of fiduciary duty, and the
Non-Company Defendants moved to dismiss Count Tevoaiding and abetting those
alleged breaches. In addition, Defendants movesdayp discovery pending resolution of
their motions to dismiss. After briefing by therip@s, the Court heard oral argument on
Defendants’ motions. At the argument, the padhgsed the Court that they had agreed
among themselves to stay discovery pending resolati the motions to dismiss, thereby
mooting the motions to stay. This Opinion constisithe Court’s rulings on Defendants’
motions to dismiss.

D. Parties’ Contentions

In Count One of their Complaint, Plaintiffs clairhat the Alloy Defendants
breached their fiduciary duties in two respectsrstfFthey assert that the directors of
Alloy breached their fiduciary duties in connectiaith negotiating and approving the
Merger. Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that Deflamts Diamond and Johnson were
interested in the Merger and “control[led] and doeate[d] the information flow both to
Macquarie and to the Special Committé®&thus ensuring consummation of the Merger
on terms beneficial to themselves but unfair to thédlic shareholders of Alloy.
Plaintiffs also accuse the directors who servedhenSpecial Committee of breaching

their fiduciary duties “by allowing themselves te bubjugated to the wills of Diamond

16 Pls.’ Ans. Br. 20.
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and Johnson” thus eviscerating any cleansing effect that apgrdy the putatively

independent Special Committee otherwise might eace | refer to these claims as the
“Unfairness Claims.”

Second, Plaintiffs allege that the directors bredctheir duty of disclosure by
omitting from the Preliminary Proxy material infoation concerning the financial
analysis and valuation of Alloy performed by Macgeathe retention of Macquarie, and
additional information regarding the “genesis” bétMerger and related transactions. |
refer to these claims as the “Disclosure Claims.”

As to the Unfairness Claims, there is no disputg iamond and Johnson were
interested in the Mergeéf. Nevertheless, the Alloy Defendants assert thatSpecial
Committee, in fact, was disinterested and indepeinded that Plaintiffs make only
conclusory allegations to the contrary. Moreowdnile conceding for purposes of their
motion that Macquarie represented both the Spé&xmmhmittee and the Company, the
Alloy Defendants argue that the Complaint failsatiege well-pleaded facts sufficient to
support a reasonable inference that either thebfudrd or the Special Committee acted

disloyally or in bad faith by relying on Macquasefairness opinion. Additionally, the

7 Id. at 23.

8 When the board formed the Special Committee orveNmber 16, 2009, it
“determined that Defendants Diamond and Johnsonshould not serve on any
such committee, because they would maintain somatyegwnership and
management role in the surviving entity.” Compl.38. Similarly, the
Preliminary Proxy affirmatively disclosed that Diamd and Johnson may have
“actual or potential conflicts of interest . . . 1d. { 47.
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Alloy Defendants contend that Plaintiffs have a®skrat most, a claim for breach of the
duty of care, and that Alloy’s certificate of inporation contains a provision under
8 Del. C. 8 102(b)(7) exculpating its directors from mongtdiability for such
breaches?

Regarding the Disclosure Claims, the Alloy Deferidaswrgue that none of the
alleged omissions were material or otherwise reguidisclosure, that this Court’s
holding inln re Transkaryotic Therapies, Ifi¢ forecloses the possibility of monetary or
injunctive relief, and that Plaintiffs have faildd allege specific facts supporting an
inference that the alleged disclosure violatiorsulted from anything other than good
faith omissions exculpated by Alloy’s certificate.

In Count Two of their Complaint, Plaintiffs claimhat the Non-Company
Defendants knowingly participated in, and therebged and abetted, the Alloy
Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duty. SpecificaPlaintiffs assert that the Non-
Company Defendants aided and abetted the allegedttves “[b]y offering or agreeing to

the inducements which caused Defendants Diamondlanason to become conflicted”

9 Alloy Defs.” Op. Br. Ex. H Art. Tenth. As witthe Preliminary Proxy, the Court

takes judicial notice of Alloy’'s certificate of ingporation. See Malpiede v.
Townson 780 A.2d 1075, 1092 (Del. 2001) (“The Section (b)¢Z) bar may be
raised on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss 7). . .

20 954 A.2d 346, 362 (Del. Ch. 2008).
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and in continuing to deal with the allegedly coct#id board thereafter, knowing that “the
Alloy Board members . . . had abandoned their tuthe Alloy stockholders®

For their part, the Non-Company Defendants firsbssube to the Alloy
Defendants’ arguments that the Complaint does tad¢ & claim for breach of fiduciary
duty and contend that, therefore, there can beabdity for aiding and abetting. Second,
the Non-Company Defendants argue that the Compfail#t to allege sufficient facts
regarding the elements of a claim for aiding anelttaiy to survive a motion to dismiss
under Rule 12(b)(6).

Il. ANALYSIS
A. Legal Standard on a Motion to Dismiss

Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), this Court may grantaion to dismiss for failure to
state a claim if a complaint does not assert gefiicfacts that, if proven, would entitle
the plaintiff to relief. As recently reaffirmed kthe Supreme Court, “the governing
pleading standard in Delaware to survive a motian dismiss is reasonable
‘conceivability.””?? That is, when considering such a motion, a cowrst

accept all well-pleaded factual allegations in@wmplaint as
true, accept even vague allegations in the Conpdesiriwell-
pleaded” if they provide the defendant notice of tHaim,

draw all reasonable inferences in favor of thentitj and
deny the motion unless the plaintiff could not nemounder

21 Pls.’ Ans. Br. 29.

22 Central Mortg. Co. v. Morgan Stanley Mortg. Capitdldgs. LLG __ A.3d __,
2011 WL 3612992, at *5 (Del. Aug. 19, 2011) (fodmomitted).
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any reasonably conceivable set of circumstanceseptible
of proof?

Delaware’s reasonable “conceivability” standardsaskether there is a “possibility” of
recovery’* If the well-pleaded factual allegations of themgaint would entitle the
plaintiff to relief under a reasonably conceivadéds of circumstances, then the court must
deny the motion to dismiss. The court, however, need not “accept conclusory
allegations unsupported by specific facts ordraw unreasonable inferences in favor of
the non-moving party®® Moreover, failure to plead an element of a clgiracludes
entitlement to relief and, therefore, is groundslimiss that clair’

B. The Unfairness Claims

Corporate directors have “an unyielding fiduciamtydto protect the interests of
the corporation and to act in the best interesissathareholders® When directors have
commenced a transaction process that will reswdtéhange of control, a reviewing court

will examine whether the board has reasonably pexd its fiduciary duties “in the

23 1d. (citing Savor, Inc. v. FMR Corp812 A.2d 894, 896-97 (Del. 2002)).
4 |d.at*5 &n.13.
2 1d. at *6.

% Price v. E.l. duPont de Nemours & Ctnc., 26 A.3d 162, 166 (Del. 2011) (citing
Clinton v. Enterprise Rent-A-Car C&77 A.2d 892, 895 (Del. 2009)).

27 Crescent/Mach | P'rs, L.P. v. TurneB46 A.2d 963, 972 (Del. Ch. 2000) (Steele,
V.C., by designation).

28 Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc634 A.2d 345, 360 (Del. 1993) (citations
omitted).
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service of a specific objective: maximizing theesptice of the enterprisé” So-called
Revlonduties are only a specific application of directdraditional fiduciary duties of
care and loyalty in the context of control transaw® In that regard, if the
corporation’s certificate contains an exculpatompvsion pursuant to 8 102(b)(7)
barring claims for monetary liability against ditexs for breaches of the duty of care, the
complaint must state a nonexculpated claim, a claim predicated on a breach of the
directors’ duty of loyalty or bad faith condutt.

A factual showing that, for example, a majoritytbé board of directors was not
both disinterested and independent would providéicgent support for a claim for
breach of loyalty to survive a motion to dismiss“A director is considered interested
where he or she will receive a personal financeldiit from a transaction that is not
equally shared by the stockholder3.”Independence means that a director’s decision is

based on the corporate merits of the subject betogeboard rather than extraneous

29 Malpiede v. Townsqn780 A.2d 1075, 1083 (Del. 2001) (citing, amongeot
casesRevlon, Inc. v. MacAndrews & Forbes Hldgs., Jrii06 A.2d 173, 182-83
(Del. 1986)).

% Wayne Cty. Empls.’ Ret. Sys. v. CoP09 WL 2219260, at *10 (Del. Ch. July
24, 2009) (citingMcMillan v. Intercargo Corp. 768 A.2d 492, 502 (Del. Ch.
2000)),aff'd, 966 A.2d 795 (Del. 2010) (TABLE).

31 See Lyondell Chem. Co. v. Ry&70 A.2d 235, 239-40 (Del. 2009}prti, 2009
WL 2219260, at *10.

% In re NYMEX S’holder Litig.2009 WL 3206051, at *6 (Del. Ch. Sept. 30, 2009)
(citing In re Lukens S’holders Litig757 A.2d 720, 728 (Del. Ch. 1999)).

3 Rales v. Blasband34 A.2d 927, 936 (Del. 1993) (citifgronson v. Lewijs473
A.2d 805, 812 (Del. 1984)).
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considerations or influenced*such as where one director effectively controistiaer®
Moreover, as to any individual director, the didifyeng self-interest or lack of
independence must be materieg. “reasonably likely to affect the decision-making
process of a reasonable person .%. "

Well-pleaded allegations that the board did notimgfood faith also would state a
claim for breach of the duty of loyalty sufficietd survive a motion to dismigs. In
general, “bad faith will be found if a ‘fiduciarytentionally fails to act in the face of a
known duty to act, demonstrating a conscious daépr his duties.® Alternatively,
notwithstanding approval by a majority of disinexl and independent directors, a

claim for breach of duty may exist “where the dsgen under attack is so far beyond the
bounds of reasonable judgment that it seems ealigmtiexplicable on any ground other
than bad faith.®*

As stated above, Plaintiffs claim that the direst@mf Alloy breached their

fiduciary duties when negotiating and approving tlerger because Diamond and

*  Aronson 473 A.2d at 816.

% Ormanv. Cullman794 A.2d 5, 24 (Del. Ch. 2002).

% Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, In634 A.2d 345, 363 (Del. 1993).

3% Inre NYMEX S’holder Litig.2009 WL 3206051, at *6 (footnote omitted).

3 Lyondell Chem. Co. v. RyaA70 A.2d 235, 243 (Del. 2009) (quotifgre Walt
Disney Co. Deriv. Litig.906 A.2d 27, 67 (Del. 2006)).

3 Crescent/Mach | P'rs, L.P. v. TurneB46 A.2d 963, 981 (Del. Ch. 2000) (quoting
Parnes v. Bally Entm’t Corp722 A.2d 1243, 1247 (Del. 1999)).
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Johnson were interested in the transaction, doeuh&ihe remaining directors, who
collectively comprised the Special Committee, amgbrioperly influenced Macquarie’s
fairness opinion, thereby infecting the entire $&stion process with their conflict of
interest.  In addition, Plaintiffs allege that tle®nsideration paid to the public
shareholders was objectively inadequate. The Algfendants contest Plaintiffs’
criticisms of the transaction process and pricguiag that Plaintiffs have not shown that
the Special Committee failed to act in a disintemg@sand independent manner or that
either the full board or the Special Committee donbt rely on Macquarie’s fairness
opinion in good faith.
1. Was the Special Committee disinterested and indepdant?

Plaintiffs’ Complaint acknowledges that the Spe&@ammittee comprised seven
directors, none of whom are officers or employeeallmy or ZelnickMedia and two of
whom, Drapkin and Jacobowitz, are affiliated widinge stockholders critical of current
management. Nevertheless, Plaintiffs argue thatGbmplaint supports a reasonable
inference that, because Diamond and Johnson wierested in the Merger and attended
due diligence meetings, they dominated and coetiothe Special Committee. They
base that inference on the following allegatiornk} the Special Committee blindly
followed Macquarie’s recommendation to focus onoang-private transaction and did
not evaluate fully alternative transactions; (2)t@s executives holding 15% of Alloy’s

stock, “Diamond and Johnson exercise[d] substamtiaitrol over the Board® (3)

% Compl. 1 51.
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Diamond and Johnson possess the best knowledgeexgratience regarding Alloy’s
value, thus precluding othatirectors from negotiating effectively against themd
placing management “in a position to threaten amymittee with its abandonment of
the Company™! (4) the participation of Diamond and Johnson “k[ed] and chill[ed]
potential competing offers” (5) Directors Graham and Gradess have long-stgndin
relationships with Diamond and Johnson; and (6 h@mareceived a special payment of
$100,000 for serving as chairman of the Special @dtee, thereby rendering him
personally interested in the Merger. | address @athese allegations in turn.

First, Plaintiffs’ criticism of the Special Commet for not evaluating fully
alternative transactions does not implicate dines#df-interest or lack of independence.
Even if supported by well-pleaded facts, such acgm would state at best a claim for
breach of the duty of café. Moreover, and as discussed above, Alloy's ceté
exculpates directors from monetary liability foebches of the duty of care. Therefore,
this allegation does not support an inference tatSpecial Committee acted disloyally
or in bad faith, nor does it provide Plaintiffs vidny basis for nonmonetary relief under

any reasonably conceivable set of circumstances.

41 Id. 9 53.
42 Id. 7 54.

43 See Citron v. Fairchild Camera & Instrument Cqrb69 A.2d 53, 66 (Del. 1989)
(“In our case law sinceSmith v} Van Gorkom[488 A.2d 858 (Del. 1985),] our
due care examination has focused on a board’sideaisaking process. We look
for evidence as to whether a board has acted ielibedate and knowledgeable
way in identifying and exploring alternatives.”).
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Second, Diamond’s and Johnson’s roles as officas their collective stock
ownership of 15% do not, without specific allegasaf domination, create an inference
that they controlled the board. In that regardpte the court’'s discussion of director
independence in re J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. Shareholder Litigattoon a motion to
dismiss a derivative action for failure to satiifig demand requirement under Rule 23.1.
There, Vice Chancellor Lamb found that a majorityttee board was independent from
the company’s CEO, William Harrison, Jr., because

[tlhe board is dominated by outsiders. . . . Hamigannot
fire any of them. Additionally, Harrison is notcantrolling

stockholder of JPMC and therefore has no poweush them
as directors through a stockholder vo@n the contrary, it is
the eleven outside directors who collectively htnee power
to dismiss Harrison and the rest of his managenteain

The plaintiffs allege that the defendant directans beholden
to Harrison, but they fail to demonstrate why tisaso. . . .
Here, Harrison reports to a board of directors tletcannot
fire or remove, a fact that appears lost in thegations that

each director, no matter how indirectly, has somxtereal
relationship to JPMC

The relationship of Diamond and Johnson to the rsemétside directors of Alloy is

essentially equivalent to the relationship betweé¢srrison and the eleven outside
directors in theJ.P. Morgan Chasecase: Diamond’s and Johnson’s collective stock
ownership of 15% is inadequate to oust the sevesid®idirectors, and those outside

directors collectively have the power to remove aad and Johnson from their

4 906 A.2d 808 (Del. Ch. 200%ff'd, 906 A.2d 766 (Del. 2006).
% |d. at 821 (emphasis added).

21



positions as corporate officers. Absent specifiegations of actual control, the facts
Plaintiffs allege cannot support a reasonable amfee that Alloy’'s seven outside
directors lacked independence.

Third, the conclusory allegation that Alloy’s inageqpent directors simply could
not negotiate against management consistent widir thduciary duties does not
reasonably follow from the fact that Diamond antinkbn may have possessed the best
knowledge and experience regarding Alloy’'s valuey mave Plaintiffs cited any
authority for that conclusion. Similarly, althoughthreat by management that they
would abandon the Company conceivably could provad@rimary and extraneous
inducement to other directors to recommend the Bltergnd undermine their
independence, Plaintiffs have not alleged thatsaroh threat occurred here. Rather, they
allege only that management was “ipasition to threaten” the Special Committ&e.
These averments, standing alone, represent notbuiy “conclusory allegations
unsupported by specific facts” and are not suffitte state a clairf.

Fourth, Plaintiffs allege that Diamond’s and Johrisgpersonal interest in the
Merger effectively blocked potential competing offe Yet, they do not allege any well-
pleaded facts that would support an inference isabther offers were madsecause

Diamond and Johnson were so interested.

% Compl. 53 (emphasis added).

47 See Price v. E.I. duPont de Nemours &,@uc., 26 A.3d 162, 166 (Del. 2011).

22



| pause at this point to note that Plaintiffs’ renmag allegations refer exclusively
to Diamond, Johnson, Graham, and Gradess. In oibets, Plaintiffs have alleged that,
at most, four of Alloy’s nine directors had anyerdst in the Merger or otherwise lacked
independence from those who did. Therefore, Ritsndllegations are insufficient to
support a reasonable inference that a majority lify’s board was interested or lacked
independenc& Moreover, and in any event, | also find that #iegations challenging
Gradess’s and Graham’s independence and disiredressts i(e., Plaintiffs’ fifth and
sixth allegations identified above) are insuffigiém support Plaintiffs’ claim for breach
of fiduciary duty. Plaintiffs have alleged onlyathGradess has known Diamond and
Johnson “since their days as ex-patriots in Japahe early 1990’s” and that Graham
has been “a long standing board member under Joherse Diamond . . . *® These
allegations of professional and personal relatiggssbo not raise a reasonable inference
that Gradess and Graham did not base their decisioapprove the Merger on the
corporate merit2® Moreover, to show that Graham’s continued empleyimas a
director or his receipt of the special payment $erving as chairman of the Special

Committee evidences a disqualifying interest ok lat independence, Plaintiffs would

8 SeeCede & Co. v. Technicolor, In®34 A.2d 345, 363 n.34 (Del. 1993).
49 Compl. 152,

>0 See Crescent/Mach | P’rs, L.P. v. Turngd6 A.2d 963, 980-81 (Del. Ch. 2000)
(finding “long-standing 15-year professional and rsp@al’” relationship
insufficient to doubt a director’s independence).
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have to allege that either or both were materiaGtahant’ Regarding the special
payment of $100,000, specifically, “allegationspefcuniary self-interest must allow the
Court to infer that the interest was of ‘a suffrdlg material importance, in the context of
the director’'s economic circumstances, as to hasdemt improbable that the director
could perform her fiduciary duties without beindlienced by her overriding personal

interest.”??

The Complaint contains no such allegation of maligy, and the
circumstances surrounding the decision to grantgagment to Graham do not support a
reasonable inference to that effect.

Thus, Plaintiffs have failed to allege well-pleadiedtts sufficient to support a
reasonable inference that either a majority oftibard or the Special Committee was so
interested in the Merger or so lacking in indepegefrom Diamond and Johnson that
their negotiation and approval of the Merger cdustd a breach of the fiduciary duty of
loyalty.

2. Did the board or the Special Committee fail to acin good faith?

As stated above, factual allegations that the bdatdot act in good faith would
state a claim for breach of fiduciary duty suffiti¢o survive a motion to dismiss. The

Complaint, however, alleges numerous instancesontlect by the board and Special

°1 Cede & Co, 634 A.2d at 363.

2 In re Gen. Motors (Hughes) S’holder Liti005 WL 1089021 (Del. Ch. May 4,
2005) (quotingn re GM Class H S’holders Litig734 A.2d 611, 617-18 (Del. Ch.
1999)),aff'd, 897 A.2d 162 (Del. 2006).

>3 In re NYMEX S’holder Litig.2009 WL 3206051, at *6 (citingyondell Chem. Co.
v. Ryan 970 A.2d 235, 243 (Del. 2009)).

24



113

Committee that militate against a claim that théoyldirectors showed a “‘conscious
disregard for [their] duties.” . . . More importgntthere is a vast difference between an
inadequate or flawed effort to carry out fiducialyties and a conscious disregard for
those duties™ Accordingly, for Plaintiffs to succeed on a claiat the Alloy directors
did not act in good faith, Plaintiffs must show tthiae decision to approve the Merger
was “so far beyond the bounds of reasonable judgntlesmt it seems essentially
inexplicable on any ground other than bad faith.”

Plaintiffs attempt such a showing by characterizing Merger consideration as
inadequate and arguing that the board could na helied in good faith on Macquarie’s
fairness opinion to the contrary because Macquads conflicted. More specifically,
Plaintiffs allege that: Macquarie “represented bdthoy (and thus, Diamond and

Johnson) and the Special Committé&'Diamond and Johnson worked closely with

Macquarie, attending most, if not all, of the duegdnce meetings; the Preliminary

> Lyondell Chem. Co. v. Rya70 A.2d 235, 243 (Del. 2009) (quotity re Walt
Disney Co. Deriv. Litig.906 A.2d 27, 67 (Del. 2006)). For example, tloard
formed the Special Committee, which negotiated \déhnickMedia for several
months, persuaded ZelnickMedia to increase itdrbith $8.75 per share to $9.80,
and secured for Alloy’s stockholders a control prem above the pre-Merger
trading price. Compl. 1 38, 42, 44, 48. Thetgations belie an inference that
the Alloy directors consciously disregarded theities.

> Turner, 846 A.2d at 981 (internal quotation marks andtmt omitted).

> Pls.” Ans. Br. 9;see alsoCompl. 40 (Macquarie “was representing both yllo

(including Defendants Diamond and Johnson as exesutthereof) and the
Special Committee.”).
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Proxy discloses that Macquarie might invest inMerger®’ and a “substantial portion”

of Macquarie’'s compensation for rendering its fag® opinion is contingent upon

completion of the Merger. Consequently, Plaintifigue, Macquarie “skewed its

valuation in favor of the Merger®

Plaintiffs’ allegations largely miss the mark. Ageneral matter, a board’s receipt

of a fairness opinion typically supports a factudiérence that the board acted properly

when deciding to proceed with a transactibriNevertheless, “fairness opinions . . . are

generally not essential, as a matter of law, tetpan informed business judgmefit.”

57

58

59

60

Specifically, the Preliminary Proxy states thatdquarie might co-invest in
Holdings, the wholly-owned subsidiary of ZelnickMadformed to effect the
Merger, and that Macquarie’s affiliates might inviesaffiliates of Holdings in the
future. Complq{ 9, 68.

Pls.” Ans. Br. 9see alsaCompl. {1 68-83.

See, e.g., McMillan v. Intercargo Coy.68 A.2d 492, 505 n.55 (Del. Ch. 2000)
(“The board’s reliance upon an investment bankeho&e independence and
gualifications are not challenged in the complaiist)another factor weighing
against the plaintiffs’ ability to state an actibia claim that the defendant
directors breached their fiduciary duties by faglito secure the highest value
reasonably attainable.”Jn re Dairy Mart Convenience Stores, Ind999 WL
350473, at *13 (Del. Ch. May 24, 1999) (“[A]n owsifinancial advisor’'s opinion
on the terms of a transaction generally gives tberCcomfort with respect to the
reasonableness of the board’s action . . .GYpdwin v. Live Entm’t, Inc1999
WL 64265, at *23 (Del. Ch. Jan. 25, 1999) (findibgard decision to accept
bidder’s offer without market check reasonable,part, because of fairness
opinion); Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor, Inc663 A.2d 1134, 1143 (Del. Ch.
1994) (fairness opinion of outside financial adviamong the factors supporting a
finding that the transaction was entirely fair).

Turner, 846 A.2d at 984 (citingmith v. Van Gorkoym88 A.2d 858, 876 (Del.
1985));see also Citron v. Steego Cqrt988 WL 94738, 14 Del. J. Corp. L. 634,
649 (Del. Ch. 1988) (“Where, however, the transecoffered is all cash and the
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Receipt of a fairness opinion also supports arrémiee that a board satisfied its duty of
care® but that is less important here because Alloy'sifieate waives liability for
breaches of care. Based on the facts allegedaintf®is’ Complaint, | find that, at most,
it might be appropriate to infer that the Alloy elitors breached their duty of care. The
alleged flaws in Macquarie’s fairness opinion, heere cannot support a reasonable
inference that the board’s decision to approveMieger was “so far beyond the bounds
of reasonable judgment that it seems essentiadlypiicable on any ground other than
bad faith.®

Furthermore, Plaintiffs’ allegations that Macquaskewed its fairness opinion are
generally conclusory and unsupported by specifitsta First, while the Complaint
adequately alleges that Macquarie representedtbethoard and the Special Committee,
there are no specific allegations from which oresomably could infer that Macquarie’s
representation of the board caused it to furtheaniaind’'s and Johnson’gersonal
interests, nor have Plaintiffs cited any legal autly to support drawing that inference.
Second, Diamond’'s and Johnson’s participation ie diligence meetings, standing
alone, does not support an inference that they comiged or otherwise influenced the

integrity of Macquarie’s work. To the contrary,eowould expect a thorough evaluation

essential question is the present and future valube firm, directors with long
and intimate contact with the firm may reasonalelgl less need for the guidance
that investment houses may offer.”).

61 See Van Gorkop#88 A.2d at 881.

2 Turner, 846 A.2d at 981 (internal quotation marks andititih omitted).
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of Alloy to involve those two insiders because,admng to Plaintiffs, they had “the best
knowledge and experience regarding the Company isntbusiness and strategy’”
Plaintiffs disagree with the financial analysis Maarie performed, but the Complaint
does not allege with any specificity that Diamomdlohnson caused that analysis to be
inaccurate or subpéf.

Third, the fact that a substantial portion of Maage's compensation is
contingent upon consummation of the Merger does swgport an inference that
Macquarie intentionally undervalued Alloy. As angeal matter, “[c]ontingent fees are
undoubtedly routine; they reduce the target’s egpeaha deal is not completed; perhaps,
they properly incentivize the financial advisorfaxus on the appropriate outconfg.”
Although this Court has held that stockholders nhaye sufficient concerns about
contingent fee arrangements to warrant disclos@irsuoh arrangements, that need to

disclose does not imply that contingent fees nec#gsproduce specious fairness

®  Compl. §53.

o4 To the extent Plaintiffs believe that Macquarie’gluation of Alloy and the

Merger consideration paid were objectively inadéguthey were free to exercise
their rights to appraisal pursuant ta>@l. C.8 262. For purposes of the Alloy
Defendants’ motion to dismiss, however, those aliegs of inadequacy are
insufficient to support a claim that, in negotigtiand approving the Merger, the
full board or the Special Committee acted disloyall in bad faith.

65 In re Atheros Commc'ns, Inc2011 WL 864928, at *8 (Del. Ch. May 12, 2011);
see also Cty. of York Empls. Ret. Plan v. Mergihth & Co, 2008 WL 4824053,
at *11 (Del. Ch. Oct. 28, 2008) (noting, on motimnexpedite proceedings, that
the “inherent conflict” of an investment banker@tingent compensation “is not
unusual”).
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opinions® In this case, Plaintiffs provide nothing morertf@nclusory allegations that
the presence of a contingent fee structure must iiffluenced Macquarie, but they do
not allege, for example, that the actual compeosatieceived was excessive or
extraordinary’’ In these circumstances, | cannot conclude thabad salvo against such
a common practice, standing alone, supports a meh$® inference that the fairness
opinion rendered in this case is so flawed thatAhey directors could not have relied
upon it in good faith.

Finally, to whatever extent allegations of a finah@dvisor's investment in a
transaction might support an inference of biasgpriatude that such an inference would
not be reasonable in this case because Plainafie loverstated their allegations. The
Complaint explicitly refers to the Preliminary Pyowhen alleging that Macquarie may

co-invest in the Mergé¥ The complete context of that disclosure documieniyever,

% See Athergs2011 WL 864928, at *§“The Court does not imply that [the
financial advisor] has committed a wrong here bseaaf the contingent fee
arrangement; it simply observes that the incentia@s so great that the
stockholders should be made aware of them andhisatontingent fee structure
Is material to their decision to support or opptteeTransaction.”).

7 See Crescent/Mach | P'rs, L.P. v. Turn&46 A.2d 963, 984 (Del. Ch. 2000)
(finding directors had not breached their duty afecwhen relying on financial
advisor alleged to be conflicted by contingent cengation because, among other
reasons, the advisor was entitled to compensatidriteere was nothing to suggest
that compensation was excessive or extraordinary).

% Compl. 1 68.
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reveals that Macquarie had a less dubious inténetite Mergef® According to the
Preliminary Proxy, “[a]ffiliates of Macquarie Cagitmay co-invest with [Holdings] and
its affiliates and may invest in limited partnegshinits of affiliates of [Holdings] in the
future” because Macquarie provides “a broad rarfggeourities activities and financial
advisory services,” which could include, among otheerests, holding short or long
positions in a variety of financial instrumerfs The possibility that Macquarie may co-
invest in Holdings does not suggest that Macquisrigkely to invest in the Merger.
Plaintiffs’ allegation that Macquarie may co-investh Holdings at some indefinite time,
thus contextualized, does not support a reasonafdeence that Macqurie skewed its
valuation of Alloy for its own benefit.

All that remains, therefore, of Plaintiffs’ badtfaiclaim are the allegations that the
Merger consideration was inadequate and that Didnaowl Johnson will benefit from it.
As to the Merger consideration, Alloy shareholdezseived $9.80 per share, which
represents a premium of 14% over Alloy’s closing@ithe day before the Merger was
announced and a 27% premium over the average glpsice for the thirty trading days

before the Merger was announced. | cannot condhalethis price was “so far beyond

% See In re Gen. Motors (Hughes) S’holder Ljt®97 A.2d 162, 169 (Del. 2006)
(“When a complaint partially quotes or charactesinéhat a disclosure document
says, a defendant is entitled to show the trialrtcthe actual language or the
complete context in which it was used [on a motmdismiss].”)

© Prelim. Proxy 38.

30



the bounds of reasonable judgment that it seeneeaby inexplicable on any ground
other than bad faith’*

Nor can | infer that the board acted in bad fagcduse of the benefits inuring to
Diamond and Johnson. The cases in which bendlita tmember of a target's
management have been found sufficient to suppdimding of bad faith are readily
distinguishable from this case. For exampleParnes v. Bally Entertainment Corf.
the Supreme Court found bad faith where otherwisintgrested and independent
directors acquiesced to a merger agreement afeercdmpany’s chairman and CEO
conditioned his approval odny merger on his receiving numerous and substantial
personal benefits, including cash payments, wasratbck conversions in excess of $65
million, and the transfer of certain corporate &s5e In Crescent/Mach | Partners, L.P.
v. Turnet’ this court found bad faith where the company'sihan, CEO, and
controlling shareholder secured various “side-deast available to the minority
shareholders, including, among other things, digersof cash consideration that
otherwise would have been merger considerationrademption of six million of his—

and only his—shares to ensure personal tax advesitagf available to the minority.

L Crescent/Mach | P'rs, L.P. v. TurneB46 A.2d 963, 981 (Del. Ch. 2000) (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted).

2 722 A.2d 1243 (1999).
B |d. at 1246.
846 A.2d 963 (Del. Ch. 2000).
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Here, by comparison, the allegedly bad faith béseb Diamond and Johnson
include (1) continued employment as CEO and COG6€peetively, (2) an exchange of
their existing Alloy shares for shares in Alloy’'sw parent company, and (3) an initial
profits interest grant in that parent. Unlike ither Parnesor Turner, however, the
acquiror insisted on these terms as a conditiothefMerger> Moreover, these terms
can be explained on grounds other than bad fai®ne plausible, and legitimate,
explanation is that ZelnickMedia wanted to ensumat tthose members of Alloy’s
management with the best knowledge and expertgadeng the Company continued to
manage its affairs after the Merger and that theyewproperly incentivized to do $b.
Given this plausible and legitimate explanation tftee board’s decision to approve the
benefits to Diamond and Johnson, | cannot reasgnabdr that doing so was “so far
beyond the bounds of reasonable judgment thaeihsesssentially inexplicable on any
ground other than bad faith”

Accordingly, | conclude that Plaintiffs’ Complaifails to allege specific, well-

pleaded facts that would give rise to a reasonathceivable set of circumstances under

> SeeCompl. 1 42, 44.

7 See Morgan v. Cash2010 WL 2803746, at *5 (Del. Ch. July 16, 2010)
(“[R]etaining management is a routine occurrenaetii@ obvious reason that an
acquiror often wants to keep existing managementrder to ensure that the
acquired assets continue to be managed optimallg. view the retention of
management on reasonable terms with suspicion wanilgd undermine business
practices that often facilitate the difficult tranens required when two businesses
merge.” (footnote omitted)).

T Turner, 846 A.2d at 981 (internal quotation marks andititih omitted).
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which Plaintiffs could recover on a claim that,negotiating and approving the Merger,
the Alloy directors failed to act loyally or in gdofaith. Therefore, the Alloy
Defendants’ motion to dismiss the Unfairness Claitkbe granted.

C. The Disclosure Claims

The duty of disclosure is a specific applicationcofporate directors’ fiduciary
duties of care and loyalty, requiring directors “to disclose fully and fairfll material
information within the board’s control when it seelhareholder actiod® The
Complaint alleges that the board breached its dfitgisclosure by omitting material
information in the Preliminary Proxy about the rgten of Macquarie, the financial
analysis and valuation of Alloy performed by Macgeaand additional information
regarding the “genesis” of the Merger and relateshdactions. “This Court does not
defer to directors’ judgment about what informati® material,” but determines
materiality for itself “from the record at the pattlar stage of a case when the issue
arises.®

As a threshold matter, Plaintiffs have virtuallyaakdoned the Disclosure Claims.
On August 25, 2010, the Court denied Plaintiffs’timo for expedited proceedings after

finding that the Complaint failed to assert a calde claim that the Preliminary Proxy

8 Malpiede v. Townsqry80 A.2d 1075, 1086 (Del. 2001).
9 Stroud v. Grace606 A.2d 75, 84 (Del. 1992).
8 Turner, 846 A.2d at 988.
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contained any disclosure violations sufficient ustjfy expeditior’ Although motions
to expedite and motions to dismiss invoke dististandards of review, Plaintiffs
relegated their arguments against dismissal ofr tbesclosure Claims to a single
paragraph of their answering brféf. Additionally, the argument that Plaintiffs chase
brief only half-heartedly addressed Defendants’ugds to dismiss the Disclosure
Claims. Plaintiffs argued primarily that “the faittat Defendants filed a preliminary
proxy . . . rife with disclosure deficiencies idicative of a disloyal process and should
be viewed as a part of the overarching failure mfalty here.®® On its own, this
argument does not substantiate an independent thaitAlloy’s board breached its duty
of disclosure. Moreover, Plaintiffs do not attentpt refute the Alloy Defendants’
contention that the holding @i re Transkaryotic Therapies, If¢precludes recovery of
monetary damages for disclosure violations aftexeager has been consummafd.

On a related point, Plaintiffs have not soughtrieead the Complaint since Alloy
supplemented the Preliminary Proxy by filing a ditive proxy statement with the SEC

on October 5, 2010 (the “Definitive Proxy’d. To an extent, the Definitive Proxy

81 Tr. of Teleconf. on Mot. to Expedite 29-41.

2 PIs.’ Ans. Br. 26-27.

B .

8 954 A.2d 346 (Del. Ch. 2008).

85 Id. at 362; Alloy Defs.” Op. Br. 22; Alloy Defs.” RepBr. 3 n.1.

8 Alloy, Inc., Proxy Statement (Schedule 14A) (“DBfoxy”) (Oct. 5, 2010). The
Court takes judicial notice of the Definitive Proxyt for the truth of the
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addressed at least some of the allegedly matemi@sions of the Preliminary ProXy.
Although the Court is not aware of any express ireguent that a plaintiff amend her
complaint to account for supplemental disclosumed although motions to dismiss are
limited to the facts as alleged in the complaihg barm caused by a disclosure violation
is not the deficient disclosure itself but the @msential uninformed shareholder vite.
In this case, where the Merger has closed andefiver, the Court cannot order
corrective disclosures, Plaintiffs’ claim for moast damages survives only to the extent
that material omissions continued to exist whensih&reholders votedie., after Alloy
filed the Definitive Proxy. In other words, evehRlaintiffs were under no express
requirement to amend the Complaint in light of efinitive Proxy, the fact that they
chose not to do so further supports the Court'etteat they have essentially abandoned

the Disclosure Claims.

statements contained therein, but rather for theomtested fact that the Alloy
Defendants made supplemental disclosures in thmiided Proxy that relate to at
least some allegedly material omissions in theifdneary Proxy referred to in the
Complaint.

87 For example, the Complaint alleges that “[t]heslifrinary Proxy does not

disclose what portion of [Macquarie’s] fee is cagent on closing the [Merger]
...." Compl. 1 87. The Definitive Proxy statéwat Alloy “has agreed to pay
Macquarie Capital fees, in the sum of $2,350,000,which $1,300,000 is
contingent upon completion of the merger.” Debhxgr44.

8 See Stroud v. Grace06 A.2d 75, 84 (Del. 1992) (holding duty of disure
requires full and fair disclosurewhen the board seeks shareholder action);
Brinckerhoff v. Tex. E. Products Pipeline Cp008 WL 4991281, at *4 (Del. Ch.
Nov. 25, 2008) (dismissing disclosure claims whire allegedly omitted facts
already were part of the total mix of informatioefdxre the shareholder vote).
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In any event, | dismiss Plaintiffs’ Disclosure @& based on th& 102(b)(7)
exculpatory provision in Alloy’s certificate of ingporation. As stated above, the duty of
disclosure is a specific application of directarsdre general fiduciary duties of care and
loyalty. As such, a failure to disclose a matefaat could result from a breach of either
of those fiduciary duties. An exculpatory provisionder 8Del. C.8 102(b)(7), such as
Alloy has, would preclude, for example, a claim fooney damages for disclosure
violations that were made in good faithes for failures to disclose resulting from a
breach of the fiduciary duty of care rather thamftbreaches of loyalty or good fafth.

In this case, there is no evidence that, in autimgithe disclosures, the Alloy
directors breached their duty of loyalty or actedbad faith. Again, Plaintiffs argue
primarily that the alleged disclosure violations thie Preliminary Proxy “should be
viewed as a part of the overarching failure of loyaere.®™ Having found in Part 11.B
suprathat the Complaint does not assert well-pleadeations sufficient to support a
reasonable inference that a breach of loyalty sedum negotiating or approving the
Merger, | find this argument unpersuasive. Sirylathough criticizing the overall
transaction process, the Complaint makes no fadliegations that the board acted

disloyally or in bad faith when authorizing the Rrenary Proxy specifically.

89 Zirn v. VLI Corp, 681 A.2d 1050, 1062 (Del. 1996) (“A good faitirameous
judgment as to the proper scope or content of requilisclosure implicates the
duty of care rather than the duty of loyalty. Thilre disclosure violations at issue
here fall within the ambit of the protection of sen 102(b)(7).” (citation and
footnote omitted)).

% Pls.’ Ans. Br. 27-28.
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Accordingly, any omission concerning the engagem@&ntMacquarie, the financial
analysis it performed, or the “genesis” of the si@stion would implicate only the duty of
care’ The exculpatory provision of Alloy’s certificatef incorporation, therefore,
precludes monetary liability against the Alloy Dmdants, which in turn compels
dismissal of Plaintiffs’ Disclosure Clainis.

D. The Aiding and Abetting Claims

Finally, | turn to Plaintiffs’ aiding and abettirdaims against the Non-Company
Defendants. “A third party may be liable for aigliand abetting a breach of a corporate
fiduciary’s duty to the stockholders if the thirérpy ‘knowingly participates’ in the
breach.®® As a matter of law and logic, there cannot besdary liability for aiding and
abetting an alleged harm in the absence of pritiabjlity.** Having determined above
that the Complaint does not state a claim for brezdiduciary duty, | must dismiss, in

turn, Plaintiffs’ aiding and abetting claims foiltae to state a claim.

o See Zirn 681 A.2d at 1062n re Transkaryotic Therapies, In@54 A.2d at 362-
63.

%2 See Arnold v. Soc'y for Sav. Bancorp, Jré50 A.2d 1270, 1287-88 & n.36 (Del.
1994) (holding a disclosure claim may be dismigs@guant to section 102(b)(7)
where there are no breaches of loyalty or goodi)ait

% Malpiede v. Townsqiv80 A.2d 1075, 1096 (Del. 2001) (footnote omi}ted

94 Id. (predicate breach of fiduciary duty is elementaafing and abetting claim);

Vichi v. Koninklijke Philips Elecs. N.M2009 WL 4345724, at *21 (Del. Ch. Dec.
1, 2009) (“One cannot aid and abet a breach otfay duty, however, where no
duty has been breached in the first place.” (fotmmmnitted)).
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II. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated in this Opinion, | granteDéants’ motions to dismiss the
Complaint in its entirety under Rule 12(b)(6) failéire to state a claim upon which relief
may be granted.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
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